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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

SEVERN SIMS, AARON GEORGES
and JOSEPH CONNER 111, individually
and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
V. Case No. :

UNATION, LLC, a for profit corporation,
and GEORGE BEARDSLEY, individually,

Defendants.
/

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs, SEVERN SIMS, AARON GEORGES and JOSEPH CONNER III, (“Plaintiffs”), on
behalf of themselves and other similarly situated employees, bring this action for unpaid overtime
compensation, and other relief under the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. 216(b)
(the “FLSA”) against UNATION, LLC (“UNATION”) and GEORGE BEARDSLEY
(“Defendants™)

PARTIES

1. Defendant UNATION, LLC is a Delaware corporation that has developed and is
currently marketing and selling an event driven social media app.

2. Defendant, GEORGE BEARDSLEY, is the Chief Strategy Officer of UNATION
and at all relevant times exerted control over the Defendant UNATION’s employees, pay practices
and policies.

3. UNATION conducts business at 324 S. Hyde Park Avenue, Tampa, Florida 33606.

4. Plaintiffs SEVERN SIMS, AARON GEORGES and JOSEPH CONNER III all
were employed by Defendants and worked at Defendants’ office located at 324 S. Hyde Park

Avenue, Tampa, FL.
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

5. This action is brought under the FLSA to recover from Defendants overtime

compensation, liquidated damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

6. This court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff's claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1337 and
the FLSA.
7. Venue is proper in the Middle District of Florida because events giving rise to these

claims occurred in this jurisdiction and Defendants conduct business in this jurisdiction.

8. At all material times relevant to this action, Defendants were an enterprise covered
by the FLSA, as defined by 29 U.S.C. §§203(r) and 203(s).

9. Defendants develop, market and sell a social media app. At all material times
relevant to this action, Defendants had gross revenues of at least $500,000.00 annually and
employed employees engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce. For
example, employees employed by Defendants regularly travel to other states for their jobs, produce
marketing materials that are used in other states, make calls to clients located in other states and use

tools and equipment, including computers, pens and paper, that were moved in or produced for

commerce.
10. Plaintiffs were involved in interstate commerce.
11. Plaintiffs have satisfied all conditions precedent, or they have been waived.

12. Plaintiffs have hired the undersigned attorneys and have agreed to pay them a fee.

13. Plaintiffs request a jury trial for all issues so triable.

14. This collective action challenges Defendants uniform policy of willfully
misclassifying its employees as “contractors,” when in reality these individuals are actually
“employees” of Defendants.

15. Misclassification of employees as independent contractors is found in an
increasing number of workplaces in the United States. . . When employers improperly classify
employees as independent contractors, the employees may not receive important workplace

protections such as the minimum wage, overtime compensation, unemployment insurance, and
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workers’ compensation. Misclassification also results in lower tax revenues for government and
an uneven playing field for employers who properly classify their workers. ” U.S. Department of
Labor, Wage and Hour Administrator’s Interpretation No. 2015-1 (July 15, 2015).

16.  As recently noted by the Department of Labor, “most workers are employees under
the FLSA’s broad definitions.” Id. at pg. 15.

17.  Atall material times, Plaintiffs were “employees” of Defendants.

18. At all material time, Defendants “employed” Plaintiffs.

19.  The work performed by Plaintiffs was integral to Defendants’ business.

20. Defendants paid Plaintiffs a fixed weekly salary irrespective of the hours worked or
nature of the work performed by Plaintiffs.

21. Plaintiffs did not have any opportunity for profit or loss based on their
entrepreneurial skills.

22. Plaintiffs were economically dependent upon Defendants for their livelihood.

23. Plaintiffs were not independent contractors in business for themselves, they were

employees of Defendant.

24. Defendants required Plaintiffs maintained control over all aspects of Plaintiffs’
activities.
25. Defendants required Plaintiffs to perform tasks besides their core job duties. For

example, graphic designers were also required to attend events at nightclubs, hand out flyers at

concerts.
26. Defendants required Plaintiffs to report to work at Defendants’ location.
27. Defendants required Plaintiffs to adhere to specific schedules and office hours.
28. Defendants required Plaintiffs to attend meetings at specific times and specific

places, including weekly meetings with Defendants’ vendors.
29. Defendant intentionally attempted to circumvent laws providing employees with
legal protection pursuant to Federal and State law.

30. For example, Defendants required Plaintiffs to sign “contractor agreements” in
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which Plaintiffs were forced to acknowledge a “contractor” relationship.

31.  Additionally, Defendants utilized Defendants’ retained counsel to create limited
liability companies for Defendants’ employees for purposes of hiding the true employment
relationship between Defendants and Defendants’ employees. Plaintiffs never had an attorney-
client relationship with Defendants’ counsel and never paid Defendants’ counsel for services
provided. Moreover, Defendants’ counsel was listed as “Registered Agent” for each limited
liability company.

32. As a result of its unlawful misclassification of its employees as “contractors,”
Defendants failed to comply with 29 U.S.C. §§ 201-209, because Defendants did not pay Plaintiffs
overtime wages for those hours worked in excess of forty (40) within a work week.

33. As an employer, Defendants had a legal obligation under the Internal Revenue Code
as well as Florida law to deduct all applicable employment taxes from employee earnings.

34. By classifying Plaintiffs as independent contractors, Defendants avoided
withholding employment taxes from their earnings, as it was legally required to do for all of its
employees under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. See 26 U.S.C. §§ 3102(a) and
3492(a)(imposing a duty on employers to deduct applicable taxes from their employees’ wages).

35. Upon information and belief, the records, to the extent that any exist, concerning the
number of hours worked and amounts paid to Plaintiff are in the possession, custody and control of
the Defendants.

36. Defendants are sophisticated employers with access to the information and resources
necessary for compliance with the FLSA and other applicable laws. For example, Defendants have
to file a preliminary offering circular for purposes of raising money through a public offering.
Undertaking such an endeavor demonstrates Defendants’ familiarity with legal compliance and
access to legal advice.

37.  Upon information and belief, Defendants did not rely on professional legal advice or

any Department of Labor opinions when it unlawfully misclassified its employees as contractors.
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ALLEGATIONS SPECIFICALLY RELATED TO PLAINTIFFS

38. Plaintiff Severn Sims was employed as a designer, developer, marketer and printer
operator from November 2011 through November 23, 2016, when he was terminated. Plaintiff
Sims regularly worked in excess of forty hours per week.

39. Plaintiff Aaron Georges worked for Defendants as a graphic designer, developer and
marketer from August 2012 through November 23, 2016, when he was terminated. Plaintiff
Georges regularly worked in excess of forty hours per week

40. Plaintiff Joseph Conner was employed as a marketer by Defendants from January
2011 until July 2016, when he was terminated. Plaintiff Conner regularly worked in excess of forty

hours per week

COUNT I
RECOVERY OF OVERTIME COMPENSATION
41. Plaintiffs reincorporates and readopts all allegations contained within Paragraphs 1-
40 above.

42. Plaintiffs were employees of Defendants pursuant to the FLSA.

43. Plaintiffs performed non-exempt job duties.

44, Defendants were aware Plaintiffs were performing non-exempt job duties.

45. Plaintiffs were entitled to be paid time and one-half their regular rate of pay for each
hour worked in excess of forty (40) per work week.

46. During their employment with Defendants, Plaintiffs regularly worked overtime
hours but were not paid time and one-half compensation for the same.

47. As a result of Defendants’ intentional, willful, and unlawful acts in refusing to pay
Plaintiffs time and one-half their regular rate of pay for each hour worked in excess of forty (40) per
work week in one or more work weeks, Plaintiffs have suffered damages and are incurring
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

48. Defendants were aware Plaintiffs performed non-exempt job duties but still refused

to pay Plaintiffs overtime for hours worked over forty (40).
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49.  Defendants did not maintain and keep accurate time records as required by the
FLSA for Plaintiffs.

50. Defendants failed to post required FLSA informational listings as required by the
FLSA.

51.  Defendants’ conduct was in reckless disregard of the overtime requirements of the
FLSA.

52.  Defendants willfully violated the FLSA.

53. Plaintiffs are entitled to liquidated damages.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants for the payment of all
overtime hours at one and one-half the regular rate of pay for the hours worked by them for which
Defendants did not properly compensate them, liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and
costs incurred in this action, and all further relief that this Court deems to be just and appropriate.

COUNT II
COLLECTIVE ACTION, VIOLATION OF FLSA
(FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME)

54.  Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-40 as if fully set forth herein.

55. At all times material, Defendants misclassified individuals as contractors who were
in reality “employees,” who worked for Defendants and who worked a substantial number of hours
in excess of forty (40) per week.

56. Defendants were aware such similarly situated individuals were performing non-
exempt job duties.

57. Defendants failed to pay individuals similarly situated to Plaintiffs one and one
half times their regular hourly rate, for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) in each week, in
violation of the FLSA.

58. Defendants’ failure to pay such similarly situated individuals the required
overtime rate was in reckless disregard of the FLSA.

59. As a direct and legal consequence of Defendants unlawful acts, individuals



Case 8:16-cv-03382-CEH-JSS Document1 Filed 12/12/16 Page 7 of 7 PagelD 7

similarly situated to Plaintiffs have suffered damages and have incurred, or will incur, costs and
attorneys’ fees in the prosecution of this matter.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand that similarly situated employees have judgment entered
against Defendants for the payment of all overtime hours at one and one-half the regular rate of pay
for the hours worked over forty for which Defendants did not properly pay them, liquidated
damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in this action, and all further relief that this

Court deems to be just and appropriate.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby requests a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

Dated this 9" day of December, 2016.

MORGAN & MORGAN

/s/ Marc R. Edelman

Marc R. Edelman, Esq.

Fla. Bar No. 0096342

201 N. Franklin Street, #700
Tampa, FL 33602

Telephone 813-577-4722

Fax: 813-257-0572
MEdelman@forthepeople.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs
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